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Trabue's Tavern, known to its nineteenth-century owners as Pleasant View
plantation, stands on the old Buckingham Road near Midlothian in Chester-
field County. Though it is now engulfed in a housing development, the
property retains a significant portion of the core of the old plantation,
including six early-nineteenth-century outbuildings and the family cemetery

The present house is in two partg-~an early one-and-one-half-story western
wing with a lean-to and a later two-story eastern wing with a one-story
rear lean~to. Both are framed structures with gable roofs and box cornices
covered with beaded weatherboards., The two-story portion is, in addition,
brick nogged. The three principal chimneys (one exterior chimney at each
end and one between the wings) all date from the early-nineteenth century
and have Flemish-bond brickwork with stepped weatherings. The fourth chim-
ney, an exterior chimney on the lean-to of the western wing, has been
heavily rebuilt.

The western wing is two-bays long with two pedimenred dormers on the south
(front) slope, a lean~to-type porch on the rear, and pent closets flanking
the principal chimney. The larger wing is four-bays long with the front
door in the second bay from the west. It has a full cellar with a Flemish-
bond brick basement, but its rear lean-to was built on brick piers which
have since been infilled. All of the first~floor windows on the facade of
the house have early-nineteenth-century nine-over-nine sash. The second~
floor sash in the east wing are six-over-nine, and the dormers of the west
wing have six-~over-six sash.

3

The house has had a curious structural history. Presently its plan consist
of a large front room and a single lean~to room in the earlier wing and an
entrance and stair hall flanked on the west by-a small parlor and on the

~east by a very large one in the east wing. The lean-to in the latter wing

is occupied by a sun room, a bathroom, and a bedroom (west to east).

Mutual Assurance Society policies dated 1802 and 1805, respectively, along
with structural evidence, show that thia form of the house postdates the
early~-nineteenth century. The policies show that the lean-to in the east
wing was once a closet and an open porch and that the small room to the
west of the stair hall was once much smaller. The 1805 policy shows it as
a 10" by 10' "small room that unites the wing to the m(ain) body." The sun
room behind it was once an open porch. This, when combined with the physi-
cal evidence, presents a picture of Trabue's Taver:a in the early-nineteenth
century as a building having a one-~and-one-half-story wing and a two-story
wing comnected by a one-story hyphen and unified by a one-story front porch
stretching most of the way (56 feet) across all three pertions., (The porch
was removed after 1956.)

The west wing, reputedly built around 1730, was heavily damaged by termites
and its interior stripped out. However, it retains some early raised-panel
doors with their hardware, a closed winder stair in the southeast cormer,
and handsome exposed beaded joists. The front room has been refinished

using beaded horizontal chestnut sheathing from an outbuilding., The fire-
place in the lean~to, which was once divided into two rooms, has a pleasant

mid~nineteenth~century mantel with simple %gggrggg%%gu%giggesggé%Zﬁi)

—
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7. DESCRIPTION

In the two ground-floor rooms of the east wing are fine, though unpretentious

early-nineteenth~century mantels with paneled pilasters. The fireplaces here]

as in the rest of the house, are of the shallow type designed to burn coal
from the Trabues' Midlothian mine. Both the front and rear doorways of this
wing have double-tier, ten-light transoms and double three-panel, raised-panel
doors with original HL hinges. The rear doorway also retains its original
bar and staples.. In the stair hall, in the large eastern parlor, and in both
upstairs rooms are double-beaded chairboards. The rear first-floor bedroom,
once a porch, still has its beaded weatherboards in which the scar of a
clogsed-off window in the north wall of the large front room can be seen.

The house apparently underwent a renovation in the second quarter of the
nineteenth century. It is likely that the small hyphen room in the east wing
was enlarged and raised to two stories at this time, for with the exception
of the first-floor mantel, all of the woodwork on both floors in this section
of the house is of the Greek Revival style. The door into the chamber dis-
plays early graining as well,

The cutbuildings at Trabue’s Tavern are outstanding in their own right. They

are ranged along a street extending north from the rear of the house, Closest

to the house is the well house, a nineteenth-century structure of substantial
construction containing an early pump and a square wooden bucket. The
present owners have added an unobtrusive pump house to the east end.

Next to the well house is the dairy with a dovecote in its gable. Like all
the other outbuildings, this is a framed structure with a gable roof and

box cornice. It features latticework under the eaves on the front and pigeon
holes in the south gable. Through a window in the north gable can be seen
the nesting compartments,

The smokehouse, the next building along the street, has a laundry attached

as a lean-to to its north gable end. The smokehouse is a close-studded
building with a striking diamond-studded, double-thickness dooxr. It has a
brick floor but no firebox. The interior of the attached laundry is sheathed
with horizontal beaded boards and its brick chimney, on the back wall, is
laid in irregular American bond,.

Across the street from the smokehouse is the building now known as the
kitchen. Once dirt-floored, a wooden floor has been inserted in it by the
present owners., At am earlier date the chimney was removed and a rear door
was blocked,

Adjacent to the smokehouse to the north is another building identified in
the 1805 insurance policy as the kitchen. It is a two-bay building which has
had a leap-to added to the west gable end and a chimney removed from the same
end., It has been heavily robbed of materials but is worthy of repair as an
integral part of the group.

(See continuvation sheet #2)
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7. DESCRIPTION

Another two-bay building very like the old kitchen terminates the street on
the north., Known as the schoolhouse, it has a brick chimney with stepped
weatherings, laid in irregular American bond, on its west end and a simple
Federal-type mantel inside. Its joists were exposed and whitewashed but not
beaded., It is from this building that the chestnut sheathing now in the
west wing of the main house was taken.

Though no stones survive, a cast-iron fence, provided for in the mid-nine-
teenth~-century will of Macon Trabue, still encircles the family graveyard
which is west of the street of outbuildings. Until 1969, there was a plague
with the legend "Trabue" on the gate.

Also standing in 1969, but now vanished, was a large barm northeast of the
house., It fell victim to the housing development.
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STATEMEMY OF SIGNIFICANCE

Trabue's Tavern stands as a relic of Midlothian's busy coal~producing era
and is an important example of a Southside plantation complex. The house
served as the home of one of the principal mine-owning families as well
as an inn patronized by travelers and miners alike. Trabue'’s Tavern also
possesses an outstanding street of early-nineteenth-century ocutbuildings
unrivaled in the area, though its rural setting on the old Buckingham
Road is rapidly being obliterated by a housing development.

The first American Trabue was Antoine Strabo, from Montaubon, France,
whose name was Anglicized after his arrival in Virginia in the late-seven-
teenth century with a group of Huguenot refugees. Many of these refugees,
including Trabue, settled south of the James River in that part of Henrico
County which has since become Chesterfield and Powhatan counties. When
the original Trabue died in 1724, he left part of his holdings, including
the land Trabue's Tavern stands on, to his son Jacob, who is believed to.
have built the west wing of the house in about 1730.

As early as 1709, coal was discovered on the estate of William Byrd II
near Falling Creek in the present Chesterfield County, and other deposits
in the Midlothian area were uncovered soon after that., Byrd established
a private mine, and by the 1730s several other local families had done so
as well, Twenty years later, the first commercially produced coal in
America was being mined at Midlothian. The Trabues became involved in the
industry very early, for when Jacob Trabue died in 1767, he left the
tavern to his son John, along with "the free liberty of diging Coles in
the Lands devised my son Daniel’ for a period of ten years.

The house and the mine remained in the Trabue family for many years. Coal
mining in Midlothian disappearad by 1925, but the house did not leave the
family until 1956. John Trabue bequeathed it to bis son John Elmore (who
probably enlarged the house and built the outbuildings) in 1791, and he
in turn left it to Macon Trabue in 1828. Tt passed to Thomas Macon Trabuej
then to a cousin, Alexander Macon Trabue, and finally to the latter's
nephew Stafford Philips. The property was sold out of the family to Mrs.
Ruby Inge in 1956 and was purchased by Raymond L. Scott in 1969 It has
recently been sold again,

As interesting as the house and its connections are the outbuildings
which formed the core of the farm alternately referred to by John Elmore

Trabue as ''my plantation calld pleasant view'" and 'my plantation called
) {see continuation sheet #3)
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8. SIGNIFICANCE

Trabues Tavern' in Mutual Assurance Society policies of 1802 and 1805,
respectively, These buildings include the ever-present smokehouse, which is
distinguished by its brick floor and seventeenth-century-type diamond-studded
door, a kitchen, a schoolhouse, and a dairy with a latticework ventilator.
Also present are a dovecote (included in the dairy), a survival of the earliey
'upperclass habit of eating squab, and a laundry, a necessary service in a
large .establishment, especially one which served the public. While other
sites possess examples of these and other outbuildings, it is quite unusual
to find so many or to find them surviving along a plantation street. The
Trabue's Tavern outbuildings are deserving of every effort for their preservad
tion.
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